STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Lancaster County
Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

Opinion No. 2019-UP-318 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 25, 2019)

RECEIVED

1981-GS-29-829

DEC 23 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RONALD YATES HYATT,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. **2019-001979**

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err in holding Petitioner was not entitled to re-sentencing where he received a *mandatory* sentence of life imprisonment *with* the possibility of parole, which is the functional equivalent of life imprisonment *without* the possibility of parole, in light of Petitioner's repeated denials of parole for sixteen consecutive years and the parole statutes not providing for consideration of the hallmark characteristics of youth?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state alleged that on August 17, 1981, sixteen-year old Petitioner shot Buddy Plyler, who died as a result of the shooting. R. 5, ll. 1-3; R. 44-45. Petitioner was charged with armed robbery as well. R. 32-36. Petitioner was not alone during the armed robbery and murder. R. 32-36; R. 38-40. An adult, William Robert Horton, was with him.¹ R. 32-36; R. 38-40.

On August 24, 1981, the solicitor “moved for the case to be transferred from juvenile court to general sessions court.” R. 5, ll. 4-6; R. 37. The following day, the Honorable Roddey L. Bell, granted the state’s request. R. 5, ll. 6-8. According to the order, a hearing on the state’s motion was held on August 25, 1981. R. 38-40. During the proceedings, Petitioner was represented by Berry Mobley, and Frank Manning represented the state. R. 38-40.

The judge found a previous investigation and report completed “during his commitment to Reception and Evaluation” to be “a sufficient examination of the parentage and surroundings of the juvenile, his age, habits, and history” and “a sufficient inquiry into the home conditions, habits, and character of his parents or guardian.” R. 38-40. Thus, despite the prior examination occurring almost a year before the transfer of jurisdiction hearing, the judge did not order “a mental and psychological examination of” Petitioner. R. 38-40. Additionally, the judge did not require “a school report,” or “a physical examination,” finding those would not benefit him in making his decision. R. 38-40. Based upon the prior report, the judge determined Petitioner was “sophisticated and mature in regards to the severity of the offense.” R. 38-40.

Ultimately, the judge transferred jurisdiction, finding the seriousness of the alleged offenses “require[d] waiver.” R. 38-40. In light of Petitioner’s prior offenses in 1980, which

¹ According to the South Carolina Department of Corrections’ website, William Robert Horton was found guilty of or entered guilty pleas to murder and armed robbery on December 16, 1981. Horton received identical sentences to Petitioner. Although Horton was eligible for parole starting in March 1998, he has not been paroled.

included truancy, breaking and entering into a motor vehicle, petty larceny, forgery, and housebreaking, for which he received a probationary sentence, the judge determined Petitioner's prospects for rehabilitation were "unlikely" in the juvenile justice system. R. 38-40. Thereafter, on August 26, 1981, Petitioner was admitted to the state hospital for a determination of his capacity to stand trial. R. 41. According to the "Report of Finding of Mental Capacity," the Superintendent of the South Carolina State Hospital found Petitioner was not mentally ill and was capable of assisting in his own defense on September 4, 1981. R. 41.

On December 7, 1981, a Lancaster County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder (1981-GS-29-829). R. 44-45. On December 16, 1981, sixteen-year old Petitioner entered guilty pleas before the Honorable Richard E. Fields to murder and armed robbery. R. 5, ll. 8-10; R. 18; R. 32-36; R. 46. He was represented by Tyre Lee of the Public Defender's Office. R. 44-45. Judge Fields sentenced Petitioner to imprisonment for "his lifetime," the only sentence permitted under the statute. R. 5, ll. 13-14; R. 46.

In November of 2015, Petitioner filed a motion for re-sentencing pursuant to Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). R. 2, ll. 1-5; R. 5, ll. 16-18; R. 18-31. Petitioner explained his sentencing judge "refused to entertain matter relating to school record, juvenile records, and other essential types of mitigating evidence." R. 18-31.² Certainly, those matters would have not mattered to the plea judge as the only sentence permissible under the statute was life. Petitioner further explained his desire for re-sentencing was to "have those matters relevant to his sentence" reviewed by a sentencing authority. R. 18-31. Petitioner argued that section 16-3-20(A) of the South Carolina Code, as it existed at the time of his offense, was

² Petitioner explained that he had "a very low education and scholastic scoring level" demonstrating his low intellectual functioning and that he was "the product of a violent home," which included physical abuse. R. 18-31.

unconstitutionally applied to him, and that his sentence of life with the possibility of parole violated the state and federal constitution's prohibitions on cruel and unusual punishments. R. 18-31. Petitioner emphasized that the only sentencing options available at the time of his offense were death and life imprisonment with the possibility of parole. R. 18-31.

The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons presided over a hearing concerning the motion on June 16, 2016. R. 1. Michael H. Lifsey appeared on behalf of Petitioner, and Lisa Collins appeared on behalf of the state. R. 1.

During the hearing, the state moved "for a summary dismissal" of Petitioner's motion for re-sentencing. R. 3, ll. 7-10.³ The state argued Petitioner was "not within the class of people who [were] entitled to a reconsideration of sentencing and a hearing under Aiken v. Byars" because Petitioner "was not actually sentenced to life without parole, he was sentenced to a lifetime in prison." R. 5, ll. 18-23. According to the state, "[a]t that time before 1996 a murder conviction was eligible for consideration for a parole after 20 years in the department of corrections if it was a non-death penalty case." R. 5, l. 23 – R. 6, l. 1. Further, the state informed the judge that "the probation and parole department" "confirmed" that Petitioner "in fact, received 16 parole hearings since his parole eligibility." R. 6, ll. 4-7. Petitioner "began attending parole hearings approximately 17 years into his life sentence." R. 6, ll. 7-8.

The state posited that the "essential goal" of Aiken "was to protect juvenile offenders from cruel and unusual punishment through a sentence with life without the possibility of parole." R. 6, ll. 8-12. The state argued "[t]he fact that the defendant has not been granted by the board - - parole by the parole board is not the issue here." R. 7, ll. 3-5. The issue, as the state saw it, was "to whom does the relief set forth in Aiken v. Byars apply." R. 7, ll. 5-6. The state

³ According to the Clerk of Court records, the state did not file a formal written motion for dismissal.

argued Petitioner “quite simply [was] not within that class.” R. 7, ll. 6-7; see also, R. 17, ll. 1-4. The state conceded that Petitioner “was under the age of 18 at the time of his plea to murder at the time of his sentence,” but maintained that because he was “parole eligible,” he was not one of the “class” protected by Aiken. R. 7, ll. 7-10. Thus, the state asked the trial court to “summarily dismiss” Petitioner’s motion for re-sentencing “and rule” that Petitioner was “not entitled to a full hearing” under Aiken. R. 7, ll. 13-16.

Petitioner argued that the “whole focus” of Aiken was that “children are different.” R. 7, ll. 18-21. Petitioner fell into the class of offenders protected by Aiken because he was sixteen-years old at the time of the offense. R. 7, ll. 21-23. Prior to a court sentencing a juvenile offender, the court must consider

the hallmark features of youth, which include maturity, being impetuous and not considering the risk and consequences, the family and home environment of the offender, the circumstances of the homicide offense including the extent of [the] offender’s participation in the conduct, and how other co-defendants might have exerted peer pressure on him, the incompetencies of youth, which include both his dealings with police officers and prosecutors, but also his ability to assist his counsel.

R. 8, ll. 4-14. Defense counsel argued that consideration of these factors “certainly were not recognized in 1981” when Petitioner was sentenced. R. 8, ll. 14-18.

Defense counsel “concede[d]” that Petitioner did not “fall within the plain language” of Aiken, but argued Petitioner was entitled to a new sentencing hearing for consideration of the factors. R. 8, ll. 18-23; R. 9, ll. 9-11. According to defense counsel, and the state, under the statute for murder in existence at the time of Petitioner’s sentencing, “the only possibility was a life sentence.” R. 8, l. 23 – R. 9, l. 1; R. 11, ll. 20-24 (explaining the only sentences for murder were life and death). Therefore, the sentencing judge “did not have the option of setting a specific term of years for his release” even if the judge thought a term of years was the proper

sentence. R. 9, ll. 3-6. Additionally, defense counsel argued Petitioner was “serving a de facto life sentence” because he had served thirty-five years in prison and had been denied parole “16 times.” R. 9, ll. 6-9. The “reasoning” of the South Carolina Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court “extend[ed] to someone who [was] serving a sentence which ha[d] the practical [e]ffect of a life sentence.” R. 9, ll. 11-16.

Petitioner echoed defense counsel’s sentiments regarding the de facto life sentence, explaining that the continuous denial of parole amounted to “life without parole.” R. 10, ll. 5-10. He explained that he was spending the rest of his life in prison, which constituted cruel and unusual punishment. R. 10, ll. 10-14.

The state countered, arguing that the point of the prior decisions was that

if it’s a life sentence without the possibility of parole, that there is no sentencing authority, there is no body to hear - - or a body of people to hear and consider and weigh, has there been reform? Has there been remorse? Has there been - - what factors played in? Whether that has been not only the behavior while he’s been in the department of corrections but what factors played into it.

R. 12, ll. 7-17. According to the state, “the bottom line” was that “an authority” “each year revisits this case and makes the decision whether or not the defendant should be granted parole.”

R. 12, l. 22 – R. 13, l. 1. In the state’s estimation, Petitioner was “getting the relief” from what Aiken “looks at as being cruel and unusual” because he had parole hearings. R. 13, ll. 1-5. “The proper body to consider the position and the sentence of the defendant is doing so every year, every year as to whether or not he should be released.” R. 13, ll. 17-19.

The judge inquired about the “parole rate” for those with “older life sentence[s].” R. 10, ll. 15-17. According to the judge, the parole rate, specifically for the life sentences with parole eligibility, was “an important factor” for consideration, especially, in light of the argument that Petitioner’s sentence “technically may not be life without parole.” R. 10, l. 24 – R. 11, l. 6.

Defense counsel was unaware of the rate, but explained that “as of about 10 years ago ... the overall denial of parole rate was about 91 percent.” R. 10, ll. 18-21. When defense counsel asked for the record to be left open so that he could submit evidence regarding the parole rate, the judge reversed course, stating “whether or not parole is granted is really not the issue.” R. 14, ll. 2-19.⁴ According to Judge Gibbons, “the process” was “the issue.” R. 14, l. 19.

On this point, the judge elaborated, finding “[t]he process of somebody being allowed an opportunity to be heard concerning being able to get out of jail, that is what is protected by the [C]onstitution.” R. 14, ll. 20-23. According to the judge not providing someone with “that process,” was “cruel and unusual because of the hallmarks of the youth, et cetera, et cetera.” R. 14, l. 23 – R. 15, l. 1. While defense counsel agreed with the judge “generally,” counsel noted that if the possibility of parole was actually an “impossibility or an almost impossibility,” then the sentence would not satisfy the Eighth Amendment without consideration of the factors. R. 15, ll. 2-7. Counsel argued that Petitioner’s sentence provided for “parole eligibility in name only.” R. 15, ll. 7-11. Ultimately, the judge decided he did not “need to see a chart or data or statistics” to resolve the issue. R. 17, ll. 7-9.

By an order filed August 16, 2016, Judge Gibbons denied Petitioner’s request for re-sentencing. R. 32-36. Judge Gibbons found that Petitioner was sixteen-years old at the time of the offense, and his co-defendant was nineteen-years old at the time. R. 32-36. The judge further found that at the time of Petitioner’s “charge and plea hearing, South Carolina law allowed a life sentence for murder to be eligible for parole.” R. 32-36. Petitioner “was eligible for parole after serving approximately seventeen (17) years of his sentence.” R. 32-36. Citing the records of SCDC, the court noted Petitioner’s “eligibility for parole began in April of 1998.”

⁴ The state objected to the parties submitting data and requested “to have a representative from” “the probation and parole department in Columbia” testify. R. 16, ll. 2-16.

R. 32-36. Finally, the judge found Petitioner “is considered for parole every year” and had “in fact had sixteen (16) parole hearings and ha[d] been rejected for parole at all of them.” R. 32-36.

Considering Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012) and Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), Judge Gibbons concluded that the “essential goal” of the cases “was to protect juvenile offenders from unconstitutional cruel and unusual punishment through a sentence of life in prison without parole – the key element being life in prison without parole.” R. 32-36 (emphasis in original). He determined that “[t]he holding in Aiken v. Byars does not apply” to Petitioner because “he did not receive a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole.” R. 32-36. The judge emphasized that Petitioner “is afforded the opportunity to have his case reviewed every year by the Parole Board, and is given the possibility of parole every year.” R. 32-36. Based upon this fact, the judge concluded Petitioner was “not within the class of offenders for whom Aiken v. Byars provides for resentencing hearings.” R. 32-36.

Judge Gibbons “specifically” rejected Petitioner’s argument that he was “in effect serving a sentence of life without parole as the Parole Board has rejected” his application for parole each year for the past sixteen years. R. 32-36. The basis for rejecting the argument was that Aiken and Miller apply only to “juvenile offenders who are serving ‘life in prison without possibility of parole.’” R. 32-36 (emphasis in original). Judge Gibbons found Petitioner “clearly has the possibility of parole, and that possibility comes to fruition each year when the Parole Board reviews” his “case and considers him for parole.” R. 32-36. Based upon this rationale, the judge granted the state’s motion to summarily dismiss the motion for re-sentencing. R. 32-36.

According to the amended proof of service filed by appointed counsel, Petitioner served his notice of appeal on September 8, 2016. Undersigned counsel perfected Petitioner’s appeal.

On September 25, 2019, the Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court's finding that Petitioner, who was sentenced to life with the possibility of parole for murder in 1981, was not entitled to a resentencing hearing. App. 1-4; State v. Hyatt, 2019-UP-318 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 25, 2019). Petitioner then filed a petition for rehearing, which was denied. App. 5-25.

According to the Court of Appeals, Petitioner was “not a member of the class of offenders contemplated by our precedent” who are entitled to resentencing “as he did not receive an LWOP sentence.” App. 1-4; State v. Hyatt, 2019-UP-318 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 25, 2019). The Court acknowledged that the United State Supreme Court held (1) the Eighth Amendment prohibited imposition of an LWOP sentence on a juvenile offender for a nonhomicide crime, Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 74 (2010). App. 1-4; State v. Hyatt, 2019-UP-318 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 25, 2019). Further, the Court admitted the United States Supreme Court concluded mandatory LWOP sentences for juvenile offenders who violate the Eighth Amendment, Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 479-280 (2012). App. 1-4; State v. Hyatt, 2019-UP-318 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 25, 2019). Finally, the Court acknowledged the South Carolina Supreme Court held that all juvenile offenders serving a discretionary LWOP sentence were entitled to new sentencing hearings for consideration of the mitigating factors of youth, Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 545, 765 S.E.2d 572, 578 (2014). App. 1-4; State v. Hyatt, 2019-UP-318 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 25, 2019). Nevertheless, according to this Court, Petitioner's sentence “differ[ed] significantly from those at issue in Graham, Miller, and Byars in which the juvenile offenders received sentences of life imprisonment *without* the possibility of parole.” App. 1-4; State v. Hyatt, 2019-UP-318 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 25, 2019) (emphasis in original). In other words, this Court held that only individuals sentenced to *literal* LWOP sentences were entitled to resentencing. In arriving at this conclusion, the Court of Appeals

relied upon its own precedent, State v. Finley, 427 S.C. 419, 831 S.E.2d 158 (Ct. App. 2019). App. 1-4; State v. Hyatt, 2019-UP-318 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 25, 2019).

On October 10, 2019, undersigned counsel filed a petition for rehearing. App. 5-23. The Court of Appeals denied the petition on November 1, 2019. App. 24-25. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in holding Petitioner was not entitled to re-sentencing where he received a *mandatory* sentence of life imprisonment *with* the possibility of parole, which is the functional equivalent of life imprisonment *without* the possibility of parole, in light of Petitioner’s repeated denials of parole for sixteen consecutive years and the parole statutes not providing for consideration of the hallmark characteristics of youth.

Petitioner respectfully requests this Court grant certiorari to review the novel question of law presented. See Rule 242 (b)(1), SCACR. This Court has not addressed whether a mandatory sentence of life with the possibility of parole violates the Eighth Amendment. However, the Court of Appeals has addressed this question, and in a published opinion. State v. Finley, 427 S.C. 419, 831 S.E.2d 158 (Ct. App. 2019). The Court of Appeals determined Finley was not entitled to a new sentencing hearing where the hallmarks of youth could be considered by the judge because “any potential Eighth Amendment violation was cured” by the fact that Finley was parole eligible. Id. at 428, 831 S.E.2d at 163. This Court – the highest court in South Carolina – should grant certiorari to review this novel question of law.

The United States Supreme Court made clear that “children are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing.” Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 471 (2012). In Miller, the Court continued the evolution of Eighth Amendment jurisprudence by extending the reasoning of Roper and Graham to hold that mandatory sentences of life without parole for juvenile homicide offenders also violates the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment. Miller, 567 U.S. at 465. However, the Court further explained that while the decision did not foreclose imposition of a sentence without the possibility of a parole on a juvenile convicted of a homicide offense, the Court required the sentencer “to take into account

how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” Id. at 479.

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