STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

*On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals*  
APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY  
Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

JAN 22 2020

Unpublished Opinion No. 2019-UP-318

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,.....RESPONDENT

v.

RONALD YATES HYATT,.....PETITIONER.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**  
Appellate Case No. 2019-001979

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TOMMY EVANS, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 65282  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-6305

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

In *Miller*, the United States Supreme Court decided that the eighth amendment forbids a sentencing scheme that mandates life in prison *without* possibility of parole for juvenile offenders. *Miller*, U.S. at 480, S.Ct. at 2470 (emphasis added). This Court in *Aiken* made the identical determination and applied it to South Carolina juveniles serving sentences of life without the possibility of parole. In the case before this Court, the trial Court and the Court of Appeals were correct in the denial of a resentencing since the Petitioner in this case is eligible for parole. In their plain language both *Miller* and *Aiken* only apply to cases where an inmate received a sentence of life *without* the possibility of parole as a juvenile. That is not what the Petitioner in the present case is serving.

In *Aiken*, this Court quoted *Miller* stating, “before sentencing the court must consider the lack of maturity and the underdeveloped sense of responsibility, to negative influences and outside pressures, including family and peers.” *Aiken*, S.C. at 542, S.E.2d at 576, quoting, *Miller*, at 2464. However, also in *Aiken* this court stated the following:

Thus the *Miller* Court unequivocally held that youth has a constitutional dimension when determining the appropriateness of a *lifetime of incarceration with no possibility of parole*, and that the mandatory penalty schemes at issue prevented the sentencing authority from considering the differences between adult and juvenile offenders before imposing a sentence of *life without parole*.

*Id.* (emphasis added)

It is clear that the *Miller* and *Aiken* decisions were only related to juveniles serving a life sentence without the possibility of parole. That is not the current circumstances of the Petitioner.

The parole hearing itself is the hearing that will consider the lack of maturity and negative influences that this court stated must be considered in *Aiken*. The parole board also gives the Petitioner the opportunity to present not only mitigating evidence revealing his immaturity at the time the offense occurred, but any change and rehabilitation occurring since his incarceration. In *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, the United States Supreme Court ruled:

A state may remedy a *Miller* violation by permitting juvenile homicide offenders to be considered for parole, rather than by resentencing them. Allowing those offenders to be considered for parole ensures that juveniles whose crimes reflected only transient immaturity and who have since matured will not be forced to serve a disproportionate sentence in violation of the eighth amendment.

*Montgomery*, at 737.

The Petitioner argues that due to the amount of hearings he has been subjected to, and that the criteria does not consider his youth at the time he committed the crime, he is essentially being given a life sentence without parole in violation of the eighth amendment. Pursuant to South

Carolina law the parole board is obligated to consider mandatory criteria found in South Carolina law. In this criteria the record of the inmate that exist before, during after he committed the crime is always considered.<sup>4</sup>

The Board is also responsible for creating their own criteria that must encompass all of the statutory criteria and the inmate's prison record. Within his writ the Petitioner lists these criteria, and he states that none of these criteria considers his youth at the time he committed the offense. However, he ignores the fact that the board must consider "the nature and seriousness of the offender's offense, **the circumstances surrounding that offense**, and the prisoner's attitude toward it." The board is also responsible for, "considering the offender's adjustment while in confinement including his progress in counseling, therapy, and other similar programs designed to encourage the prisoner to improve himself." These two criteria not only forces the board to consider the youth and immaturity of the Petitioner at the time the crime was committed, but also they must consider any changes in the maturity of the Petitioner during his incarceration.

There is another criteria that must be considered that takes into consideration the youth of the Petitioner and his increased maturity, this is the mandatory risk assessment. The South Carolina Code of Laws makes it mandatory that the Department develop a process for adopting a validated actuarial risk and needs assessment tool consistent with evidence-based practices and factors that contribute to criminal behavior, which the parole board shall use in making parole decisions, including additional objective criteria that may be used in parole decisions. S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-10(F)(1)(2018).

---

<sup>4</sup> The board must carefully consider the record of the prisoner, **before, during and after** imprisonment. S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640 (Supp. 2018)(emphasis added)

There are currently sixteen criteria that the board must consider, some relates to the circumstances surrounding the crime that occurred including the mental state of the inmate while committing this crime, others relate to the level of maturity that the inmate has achieve during his period of incarceration. The fact that the Petitioner has yet to receive parole is irrelevant, as long as he is eligible and appears before the board on a yearly basis pursuant to South Carolina law. As long as this occurs he fails fall into the class considered by the *Miller* and *Aiken* decisions.

The Petitioner cites two decisions as an attempt to support his argument, the first is *State v. Ragland*, 836 N.W.2d 107 (2013). In *Ragland*, the court ruled that the governor commuting a sentence to a sixty year parole eligibility is essentially a life without parole sentence. The Supreme Court of Iowa ruled that the District Court resentencing the parole eligibility upon the service of twenty-five years was proper pursuant to *Miller*. *Ragland*, N.W.2d at 123. So in *Ragland*, the Appellant had even longer to serve than the Petitioner prior to becoming eligible for parole, and the Iowa Supreme Court still deemed it sufficient pursuant to *Miller*.

The second decision was *Hawkins v. N.Y. State Dept. of Cor.*, 140 A.D.3d 34. In *Hawkins* the Court decided that hearing transcripts nor the board's written determination revealed that the youth of the Appellant was considered. The criteria listed in the Petitioner writ clearly state that the circumstances surrounding the crime is always considered so this decision does not apply.

It is clear that the *Miller* and *Aiken* decisions only applies if a juvenile has been denied parole eligibility. This is not the case in the present case, so this petition for writ of certiorari should be subject to denial.

**2. The neither the *Miller* nor *Aiken* decisions applies, so the Circuit Court did not have the authority to resentence the Petitioner.**

This Court determined that the principles enunciated in the *Miller* decision retroactively applied to prisoners that were similarly situated and prospectively to all juvenile offenders who

may be subject to a sentence of life imprisonment *without* this possibility of parole. *Aiken*, S.C. at 578, S.E.2d at 545 (emphasis added). Since this did not apply to the Petitioner the trial Court was correct in refusing to grant the Petitioner's motion and give him another sentence.

At the time the Petitioner committed his crime South Carolina law only allowed a life sentence with a twenty year parole eligibility for all persons who committed the offense of murder in which the state decided not to seek the death penalty.<sup>5</sup> In the absence of a controlling statute, the common law requires that a convicted criminal receive the punishment in effect at the time he is sentenced. *State v. Varner*, 310 S.C. 264, 265, 423 S.E.2d 133, 134 (1992). This was the punishment that existed at the time he was sentenced. So even though the punishment changed upon the passing of the omnibus crime act of 1996 to a sentence of thirty years to life<sup>6</sup> that was not the punishment existing at the time of sentencing, so it does not apply. A criminal defendant receives the benefit of punishment mitigated by legislative amendment only when the amendment becomes effective before sentence is pronounced. *Id.*

It is clear in the *Miller* opinion that the United States Supreme Court only allowed relief for those juvenile offenders that were serving a sentence of life *without* the possibility of parole. That is not the case with the Petitioner. There exist no United States Supreme Court opinion that allows a resentencing for a person who committed his offense as a juvenile and is now eligible for parole.

---

<sup>5</sup> A person who is convicted of or pleads guilty to murder must be punished by death or by imprisonment for life and is not eligible for parole until the service of twenty years. S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-20 (Supp. 1976)

<sup>6</sup> A person who is convicted of or pleads guilty of murder must be punished by death, by imprisonment for life, or by a mandatory minimum term of imprisonment of thirty years. S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-20 (Supp. 1996).

In *Slocumb*, this court declined to extend the United States Supreme Court decision of *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S.Ct. 2011 (2010).<sup>7</sup> The Respondent request that this court also not extend the U.S. Supreme Court decision of *Miller v. Alabama*, or their own decision of *Aiken v. Byers*.

The Petitioner is currently eligible for parole which allows him a yearly opportunity to be released on parole so the *Miller* nor *Aiken* decision applies. The Respondent would respectfully request this court to deny the Petitioner's writ for certiorari.

**3. The issue raised by the Petitioner was an administrative matter; therefore, the Circuit Court lacked jurisdiction.**

The Petitioner raises arguments regarding his parole hearing and the procedures set forth in the determination of parole. The Petitioner believes that since the Parole Board did not address his youth and impulsiveness at the time he committed the crime as designated in the *Miller* and *Aiken* decisions, his hearings are in violation of the eighth amendment and he should be allowed a resentencing. Any argument regarding the procedures followed or lack of the considerations made by the parole board during any denial of parole must be considered administrative and can only be determined by the Administrative Law Court (ALC), then by the Court of Appeals or this Court pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act. The Circuit Court no longer has jurisdiction to determine administrative procedures regarding the sentence or parole of an individual.

The fact that this case has already been appealed has no bearing on raising the lack of subject matter jurisdiction as an issue in this case. It well settled that issues related to subject matter

---

<sup>7</sup> The Constitution prohibits the imposition of a life without parole sentence on a juvenile offender who did not commit a homicide. A state need not guarantee the offender eventual release, but if it imposes a sentence of life it must provide him or her with some realistic opportunity to obtain release before the end of that term. *Graham*, U.S. at 82, S.Ct. at 2034.

jurisdiction may be raised at any time, including for the first time before the Supreme Court. *Brown v. State*, 343 S.C. 342, 346, 540 S.E.2d 846, 848 (2001).

Though not addressed by the Court of Appeals, there are three South Carolina Supreme Court decisions that determine the ALC is the sole tribunal that can initially review any decision made by the parole board relating to a denial of parole or the denial of parole eligibility, *Al-Shabbaz v. State*, 338 S.C. 354, 527 S.E.2d 742 (2000); *Furtick v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 352 S.C. 594, 576 S.E.2d 146 (2003); and *Cooper v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 377 S.C. 489, 661 S.E.2d 106 (2008). In *Al-Shabbaz*, this Court made the decision that an inmate held in the department of corrections may only seek a review of a decision in an administrative matter before the ALC and not through post-conviction relief. This Court made the determination that administrative matters can only arise in two ways: 1) when an inmate is disciplined and punishment is imposed; or 2) when an inmate believes prison officials have erroneously calculated his sentence, sentence-related credits or custody status. *Al-Shabbaz*, S.C. at 369, S.E.2d at 750.

In *Furtick*, this court decided that latter applies to the denial of parole eligibility. This Court decided that *Al-Shabbaz* outlined the nature of review available to inmates raising non-collateral issues that implicate liberty interests; those procedures apply equally to inmate affected by final decisions of the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services that affect a liberty interest. *Id.* This Court decided that the permanent denial of parole eligibility implicates a liberty interest sufficient to require at least minimal due process. *Furtick*, S.C. at 598, S.E.2d at 149.

In *Cooper*, this court decided that if the parole board deviates from or renders its decision without consideration of the appropriate criteria, it essentially abrogates an inmate's right to parole eligibility and thus, infringes on a state-created liberty interest. *Cooper*, S.C. at 499, S.E.2d at 112.

The final decision of this court was that if it is shown that the board failed to follow the proper criteria it warrants a review by the ALC and possibly a remand back to the parole board if it is shown that they have failed to apply the mandatory criteria established under South Carolina law<sup>8</sup> and the parole board<sup>9</sup>.

The Petitioner argued that he was essentially being permanently denied parole due to the amount of times he has been denied parole. The Petitioner argues that the parole board within their manual and their criteria never addresses the youth of the Petitioner at the time he committed this crime. This does not go to his sentencing but the administrative nature of the parole hearing how it is held and what is considered. The trial court stated himself, “But whether or not parole is granted is really not the issue, **it’s the process that’s the issue.**” (R. p. 14 lines 18-19) He also stated, “**And if you don’t give somebody that process** by which the trying to get out of jail without that possibility of parole, that’s cruel and unusual because of the hallmarks of youth” (R. pp. 15 lines 23-5, p. 16 line 1) It is clear the trial court determined that this is a procedural matter which lies in the administrative function of the parole board. That decision can only be reviewed by the ALC. The circuit court was not allowed to preside over the determination of whether or not the parole board properly considered the hallmarks of youth as proscribed in the *Miller* and *Aiken* decisions.

---

<sup>8</sup> The board must carefully consider the record of the prisoner before during and after imprisonment and no such prisoner may be paroled until it appears to the satisfaction of the board: that the prisoner has shown a disposition to reform; that in the future he will probably obey the law and lead a correct life; that by his conduct he has merited a lessening of the rigors of his imprisonment; that the interest of society will not be impaired thereby; and that suitable employment has been secured for him. S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640 (2018)

<sup>9</sup> The board must establish written specific criteria for the granting of parole and provisional parole. This criteria must reflect all of the aspects of this section and include a review of a prisoner’s disciplinary and other records. S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640(2018)

The circuit court lacked of subject matter jurisdiction relating to parole board decisions, so this matter should have been presented before the ALC upon the denial of the Petitioner's parole. Due to the circuit court lack of ability to preside over decisions regarding the parole board this case was heard before an improper tribunal and should have been dismissed on those grounds. This court should deny certiorari due to the circuit court's lack of jurisdiction to preside over this cause of action. The issue is not a sentencing issue, but a parole decision.

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits Petitioner has failed to show that the question presented warrants certiorari review. The Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari and let stand the decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the trial court.